
CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – APRIL 2, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on March 19, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the Multipurpose 
Room #CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 525, 
Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Michael Keller, Commissioner 
Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Gary Beach, Commissioner 
Gwen Walraven, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director of Development Services 
Derica Peters, Senior Planner 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of March 19, 2024.

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. Seconded 
by Commissioner Costantino. Motion passed 6-0. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

2. ZF 24-01 Lockwood Special Permit and Special Development Plan: Consider and act on a
request for approval of a Special Permit and Special Development Plan for a winery/distillery
on a 1.5-acre lot currently zoned Main Street/Central Expressway PD Planned Development
(Railside Sub-district) within an existing 19,602 square-foot building located at 816 S.
Sherman Street. Property Owner: Howard L. Nycum, HLN Enterprises, Inc. Staff: Derica
Peters.

Ms. Derica Peters began by stating the subject site is located at 816 S. Sherman Street and
zoned as part of the Main Street Central Expressway Planned Development in the Railside
Sub-district. The site was developed in 1966 with a 19,600 square-foot single story building
constructed of CMU and brick and is 20 feet-tall.

APPROVED



 
 2 
 

Ms. Peters reported the applicant is requesting a special permit for a winery/distillery, which 
is defined in the Planned Development Ordinance. The applicant, Lockwood Distilling 
Company is proposing repurposing the building to expand their operations where they will be 
blending, mixing alcohol, and packaging them for distribution.  
 
Ms. Peters introduced the concept plan that indicates the installation of a 10-foot-tall overhead 
dock door on east elevation for loading/unloading; reconstruction of the fire lane in compliance 
with the Fire Code; the addition of a dumpster, and additional landscape area to the north of 
the fire lane and the northwest corner of the building. 
 
Ms. Peters further explained the applicant is requesting approval of a Special Development 
Plan which allows them to request exceptions to the required development standards of the 
Railside Sub-district. She summarized the modifications and stated the exceptions are 
primarily related to the existing conditions of the site, such as the form and aesthetics of the 
building, as well as required landscape areas on site, and the required streetscape improvements 
along S. Sherman Street. 
 
Ms. Peters clarified that the subject exceptions and the Special Development Plan would only 
apply to a winery/distillery operated by Lockwood Distilling Company and any other use or 
operator would be required to submit a new application. She summarized the conditions of the 
special permit and special development plan as described in the presentation. 
 
Ms. Peters concluded by stating no correspondence has been received related to the request. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff for more context on the glazing requirement and is that related to 
the building type, such as commercial or industrial.  
 
Sam Chavez responded the Railside Sub-district envisions commercial building forms with 
store-front windows. The rezoning changed the types of uses allowed, as it removed many 
industrial uses, but allows other uses such as commercial, office, retail and some limited types 
of warehousing and manufacturing. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff to clarify if the northern driveway meets the required turning radii. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained there is existing utility pole in the area that may prevent full compliance. 
 
With no further questions, Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to come forward to speak. 
 
Mr. Evan Batt, 506 Lockwood Drive, Richardson, TX introduced the team in attendance, Sean 
Saunders, and Adam Vandkerkolk. He provided a brief history of the company and their 
involvement in the Richardson community. He explained they have always prioritized 
compliance with safety standards. He elaborated on their advocacy in hosting charity events, 
charity promotions, donation of hand sanitizer during the pandemic, and other contributions. 
It was very important to their company’s brand and culture to continue operations in the City 
of Richardson. He believes this location would support the business into the next decade of 
expansion. 
 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 

Commissioner Costantino asked the applicant if they are considering using this location as a 
storage facility and to continue distilling at their other Richardson location. 
 
Mr. Batt replied, yes, in additional to co-packing, mixing, and bottling at this location. 
 
Commission Roberts asked if they anticipated a tasting room at this location. 
 
Mr. Batt said they don’t intend to be open to the public at this location as they have three (3) 
other public tasting rooms. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked how many people will be hired for this operation. 
 
Mr. Batt replied they will start with a production team of 10 to 20 people that would expand 
along with the business, which they would hope to grow by ten-fold. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the product is distributed to other outlets. 
 
Mr. Batt replied that they have distribution in Oklahoma, but they focus on North Texas. Their 
current production capabilities are capped and are looking to move immediately. He said they 
don’t have immediate plans for new tasting rooms, but the business plan could lead to that.   
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if the applicant needs to come to the Commission for approval 
of a tasting room.  
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed that retail sales would be permitted so a tasting room with small 
quantities would be allowed, however, special events would require a special permit.   
 
Chairman Marsh inquired why the applicant chose this location. 
 
Mr. Batt explained that they spent many years looking because it is challenging to find a 
feasible location. He found this location unique and well-suited for their business if they can 
obtain zoning approval for the use. He explained it is very important for them to keep ties here 
and continue to label their products as “Made in Richardson, Texas”.   
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the proximity to the existing Lockwood distillery was important. 
 
Mr. Batt agreed that it absolutely was important. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to explain if they had plans to paint the building. 
 
Mr. Batt replied that they are in the process of learning the development process and how these 
site improvements may impact their budget. He noted they made a large investment to 
completely renovate their existing building on Lockwood Drive. They will host meetings here, 
so they intend to make it impressive, and envisioned the style of this building to match their 
brand and to capture elements of the former skating rink that occupied the building. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff to clarify the labels for paint color on the elevations and whether 
this indicated the building would be repainted.  

APPROVED



 
 4 
 

Ms. Peters explained that the elevations were provided by the applicant and mainly illustrated 
existing conditions but could not confirm if the label for the color of the roof was accurate.  
 
Mr. Batt responded to say they intended to repaint the front wall of the building as part of the 
entry façade improvements.   
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to elaborate on their plans for the interior of the building. 
 
Mr. Batt described how one-third of the building would be renovated as office space and 
meeting rooms, and the remaining area will have a 3-filling line for production, barrel storage, 
and surplus dry good storage. They will also have liquid storage tanks and blending equipment.  
 
Commissioner Costantino asked the applicant if their main objection to the development 
requirements was related to the cost or to the use of the property. 
 
Mr. Batt said it was based on the budget which includes the required improvements to meet 
safety codes. He said at this time they don’t have a full understanding of what the budget may 
be, but they are ready to move on this project as soon as possible. They wanted to be reasonable 
about what they could offer, and the additional landscaping would give them pause.  
 
Chairman Marsh explained that the City modified the zoning to make this area more walkable 
with mixed-use commercial elements and explained it was the job of the Commission to make 
decisions that either stay with that intent or deviate from it. He asked if there was an estimate 
for the new driveway construction. 
 
Mr. Batt replied, no. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff if they could explain the requirement for this concrete driveway.  
 
Mr. Chavez explained the the fire lane will be reconstructed with concrete as required. The 
applicant worked with the City on the health and safety aspects of the Code and will meet those 
standards such as the new fire lane and a new fire suppression system in the building. Mr. 
Chavez provided an updated concept plan to show the required site improvements that would 
help get the concept plan closer to conforming with the Code.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there were requirements from the Texas Alcoholic Beverage 
Commission (TABC) that would impose a significant cost to the project budget.  
 
Mr. Batt replied that they must meet the requirements for both their federal and state permits.  
Their business is classified as manufacturing, so they are familiar with those requirements, 
which are mainly related to storage and handling of the product. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to elaborate on their thoughts on the updated concept plan 
design that would reduce non-conformities. 
 
Mr. Batt said they engaged with an architect and engineer to develop the plans and their goal 
has been to comply as much as they can, so he was surprised to learn they needed additional 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 

improvements to get zoning approval. However, they want to be as accommodating as 
possible. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the applicant needed the southern driveway. 
 
Mr. Chavez responded the driveway allows for one-way circulation for vehicles to enter from 
the north and exit to the south. The parking spaces are angled to allow for east bound circulation 
on the southern half of the property. 
 
Mr. Batt noted that they tried to maximize the design to not sacrifice any parking spaces. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to confirm if the intent is to landscape the areas to the 
north of the paved driveway and asked why there is landscaping proposed in the northwest 
corner. 
 
Mr. Batts that they were required to meet a certain percentage of landscaping percentage. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard commented they did not appear to receive much truck traffic.   
 
Mr. Batt confirmed it would be approximately one truck a day for shipping and receiving. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked what size trucks would be used for shipping and receiving. 
 
Mr. Batt responded they receive some 53-foot trailers, and ship out on small box trucks.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if applicant the site could accommodate this circulation pattern. 
 
Mr. Batt replied with yes, and the alley to the west will also help with circulation. The front 
overhead door was proposed as a new loading area to alleviate increased capacity in the back. 
 
Seeing no other questions, Chairman Marsh asked for a motion to close the public hearing. 
Commissioner Costantino made a motion to close the public hearing and Vice Chairman 
Southard seconded the motion. Motion passed 6-0. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard commented that he was in favor of the request, and was inclined to 
trust them based on their prior performance in Richardson.  
 
Commissioner Costantino commented that he felt the requirements were punitive for this type 
of a request and felt this was a good use for the property. 
 
Commissioner Roberts commented that the motion should include a correction to the exhibit 
labels in the proposal. 
 
Commissioner Keller expressed that they may get in a dangerous position to disregard the 
vision, and there may be some minor modifications to be made to find a middle ground. He 
would be inclined to make a motion that included some of these site modifications. He 
commented that this proposal does not seem to be temporary. 
 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 

Commissioner Bohnsack commented that since the applicant is leasing the property and not 
purchasing, these requirements may be a lot to ask for from them.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff which of the required site improvements were most important for 
the character of the neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Chavez responded establishing the amenity zone which would include the 8-foot-wide 
sidewalk and the 5-foot-wide landscape buffer.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if that would create any issues for meeting parking requirements. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied, no. Additional parking will not be required as no building expansion was 
proposed. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard commented that the property owner must be involved in any right-
of-way dedication agreement. 
 
Mr. Chavez responded that the dedication would come at the time the property was platted, as 
it is not a platted lot. The concept plan will show the future right-of-way dedication, including 
the amenity zone and landscape buffer to establish the boundary for any future development. 
If the Commission wanted these conditions to be required, then a motion will need to be made 
to that effect. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if a time limit could be placed on this request. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied, yes. 
 
Commissioner Costantino suggested that a way to provide balance to the request is to include 
a time limit so they reapply later when the area developed, at which time the applicant would 
be ready to commit to addressing issues on the property.   
 
Chairman March commented that the Commission should be comfortable with the 
recommendation they make that will go to City Council for a decision and he is not comfortable 
with placing a time limit on the request. 
 
Commissioner Costantino reminded the Commission of another zoning case where they 
applied a time limit for qualified non-conforming uses on specific properties. 
 
Mr. Chavez further explained that occurred in 2020 when they created qualifying non-
conforming uses for specific properties in this Planned Development.  
 
Chairman Marsh commented that since this was the repurposing of a building, not a 
redevelopment, the exceptions could be justified. He believes the use fits the character of the 
neighborhood and Lockwood is the kind of company we want to retain in Richardson. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if the applicant decides to substantially redevelop later, would 
they need to come back before the Commission. 
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed yes, they would. 

APPROVED



 
 7 
 

 
Commissioner Costantino asked the applicant how they felt about a time limit on the special 
permit.  
 
Mr. Batt responded that they were interested in zoning approval for the use at this location, 
and if their time was limited then they would have to explore other options. They were open 
to making improvements at a later date and did not intend to make this look like every other 
warehouse building.  
 
Commissioner Roberts explained that he believed this should be treated as a new business 
moving into the location, so some of the development constraints might not apply.  
 

Motion: Vice Chairman Southard made a motion to recommend approval of Zoning File 
24-01 as presented with a change of Exhibit B to Exhibit A and Exhibit C to 
Exhibit B. Commissioner Bohnsack seconded the motion. Motion passed 5-1 
(Commissioner Keller opposed). 

 
ADJOURN 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular 
business meeting at 8:24 p.m. 
 
 
       
Bryan Marsh, Chairman 

APPROVED




